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October 5, 2023 

 

Mr. Timothy Riera, Acting Director  

Mr. Jeffrey Burstein, Regional Attorney 

U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 

New York District Office 

33 Whitehall Street, 5th Floor 

New York, NY 10004 

 

Investigation Request: Major League Baseball 

 

Dear Messrs. Riera and Burstein: 

 

America First Legal Foundation (“AFL”) is a national, nonprofit organization working 

to protect the rule of law, due process, and equal protection for all Americans. We 

write pursuant to 29 C.F.R. § 1601.6(a) as an “organization … request[ing] the 

issuance of a Commissioner charge for an inquiry into individual or systemic 

discrimination” related to Major League Baseball’s (“MLB”) illegal employment 

practices.1  

 

I. MLB Facially Violates Title VII 

 

MLB’s official website reports at least three unlawful employment programs: the 

“MLB Diversity Pipeline Program,”2 the “Diversity Fellowship Program,”3 and the 

“Diversity in Ticket Sales Training Program.”4,5 These facially discriminatory 

programs belie the MLB’s official statements claiming that it is an equal opportunity 

employer. Consequently, either MLB is affirmatively misrepresenting its hiring and 

promotion practices, or it is admitting to egregious and morally indefensible 

violations of the law. There is no third alternative. 

 
1 Copies of this letter are also addressed to each Member of the Commission and AFL makes the same 

request of them pursuant to 29 C.F.R. § 1601.6(a).  
2 MLB Diversity Pipeline Program, MLB, https://bit.ly/3rwnROO (last visited Oct. 4, 2023). 
3 Diversity Fellowship Program, MLB, https://bit.ly/46dKHcU (last visited Oct. 4, 2023). 
4 MLB On Deck Sales Program, MLB, https://bit.ly/3F1F71m (last visited Oct. 4, 2023). 
5 We also note that 42 U.S.C. § 1981 prohibits racial discrimination in the making, performance, 

modification, and termination of contracts, and in the enjoyment of all benefits, privileges, terms, and 

conditions of the contractual relationship; the statute applies to all phases and incidents of the 

contractual relationship. Comcast Corp. v. Nat’l Ass’n of Afr. Am.-Owned Media, 140 S. Ct. 1009, 1020 

(2020) (Ginsburg, J., concurring). However, MLB admits giving preference to contractors on the basis 

of race, color, national origin, and sex in its “Diverse Business Partners Program.” The program is 

described as “an initiative designed to increase opportunities for minority and women-owned 

businesses to participate in the procurement activities of Major League Baseball Operations.”   
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A. The “MLB Diversity Pipeline Program” 

 

MLB advertises its Diversity Pipeline Program as “seeking to identify, develop, and 

grow the pool of qualified underrepresented and female candidates for on-field and 

front office baseball operations roles.”6 MLB also states that the program “has 

assisted over 400+ hires since the program’s inception.”7 Therefore, the MLB 

Diversity Pipeline Program is an “apprenticeship or other training program” under 

42 U.S.C. § 2000e(2)(d).  

 

It is an unlawful employment practice for MLB to “discriminate against any 

individual because of his race, color, religion, sex, or national origin in admission to, 

or employment in, any program established to provide apprenticeship or other 

training.”8 However, MLB’s website makes it explicitly clear that the Diversity 

Pipeline Program is only for “qualified minority and female candidates.”9  

 

This discrimination is stated more explicitly in the description of the 2023 Diversity 

Pipeline Scout and Coaching Development Program, which “will teach women and 

people of color10 interested in scouting the basics of scouting and provide tools to 

enhance their existing experience in scouting and related areas.”11 Similarly, the 

Diversity Pipeline Scout Development Program, which teaches the basics of scouting 

and provides tools to enhance their existing experience, is limited to “women and 

people of color.”12  

 

Despite the clear and explicit statements by MLB that the 2023 Diversity Pipeline 

Scout and Coaching Development Program and the Diversity Pipeline Scout 

Development Program are only available to women and people of color, the 

application forms misleadingly contain an equal opportunity statement that claims 

the MLB does not discriminate on the basis of race or sex. This misrepresents what 

is clear from MLB’s own statements about the program - it unlawfully discriminates 

by prohibiting Caucasian males from applying. The MLB Diversity Pipeline Program 

thus facially violates both 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e(a)(2) and 2000e(d).   

 

 

 

 
6 Diversity Pipeline Program at MLB FFP, MLB https://bit.ly/3ZCETqO (last visited Oct. 2, 2023). 
7 Id. 
8 42 U.S.C. § 2000e(2)(d). 
9 MLB Diversity Pipeline Program, supra note 2. 
10 Major League Baseball defines “people of color” as follows: “Often the preferred collective term for 

referring to non-white racial groups.” Terms and Definitions: The Power of Words, MLB 

https://bit.ly/3Q2bUK4 (last visited October 5, 2023). 
11 2023 Diversity Pipeline Scout & Coaching Development Program, GREENHOUSE, 

https://bit.ly/3rt1OIO (last visited Oct. 2, 2023). 
12 Diversity Pipeline Scout Development Program at MLB FFP, GREENHOUSE, https://bit.ly/3EYxuc7 

(last visited Oct. 2, 2023). 
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B. The “Diversity Fellowship Program” 

 

MLB advertises its “Diversity Fellowship Program” as an effort to “provide the 

opportunity for young, diverse professionals to experience front office positions” and 

that “fellows will have the opportunity to work in baseball operations and see the 

inner workings of a front office.”13 This program is billed by MLB as “a rewarding 

opportunity to start a career in baseball” and is for a period of at least 18 months.”14 

Under the “Eligibility” section of the program’s “About” page, MLB once again 

explicitly states that only “people of color and female candidates” may apply.15 MLB’s 

Diversity Fellowship Program also facially violates both 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e(a)(2) and 

2000e(d).   

 

C. The “Diversity in Ticket Sales Training Program” 

 

MLB’s website also advertises the “Diversity in Ticket Sales Training Program.”16 

This program is “designed to provide participants a jumpstart in their sales careers 

through a series of training sessions and consideration for entry-level sales 

opportunities across Major League Baseball (MLB) and Minor League Baseball 

(MiLB) entities.”17 MLB further states that the program “aims to grow the visibility 

of people of color and women within the industry who successfully complete this 

program directly into hiring pipelines with clubs.”18 MLB’s Diversity in Ticket Sales 

Training Program facially violates both 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e(a)(2) and 2000e(d).   

 

II. A Commissioner’s Charge Is Proper Here 

 

MLB’s use of race, color, national origin, and sex in its hiring, training, and promotion 

is patently illegal. 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000e-2(a), (d). Decades of case law have held that — 

no matter how well-intentioned — quotas and other employment practices aimed at 

achieving racial or sexual “balancing” in the workforce are strictly prohibited. 

Students for Fair Admissions, Inc. v. President & Fellows of Harvard Coll., 143 S. Ct. 

2141, 2172 (2023); Bostock v. Clayton County, 140 S. Ct. 1731, 1737 (2020); see also 

United Steelworkers v. Weber, 443 U.S. 193, 208 (1979); Johnson v. Transp. Agency, 

480 U.S. 616, 621, 632 (1987). Similarly, MLB’s program of awarding contracts based 

on the immutable characteristics of its suppliers is legally indefensible. An equal 

right to make contracts is an empty promise without equal opportunities to present 

or receive offers and negotiate over terms. Comcast Corp., 140 S. Ct. at 1020 

(Ginsburg, J., concurring).  

 

 
13 About the Fellowship Program, MLB, https://bit.ly/3ZDeKIw (last visited Oct. 2, 2023). 
14 Id. 
15 Id. 
16 Programs, MLB, https://bit.ly/3RE3N7J (last visited Oct. 2, 2023). 
17 Id. 
18 Id. 
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MLB’s unlawful employment and contracting practices are also deeply harmful. 

Discrimination based on immutable characteristics such as race, color, national 

origin, or sex “generates a feeling of inferiority as to their status in the community 

that may affect their hearts and minds in a way unlikely to ever be undone.”19 More 

broadly, the discrimination highlighted in this case necessarily foments contention 

and resentment; it is “odious and destructive.”20 It truly “is a sordid business, this 

divvying us up” by race, color, national origin, religion, or sex.21 

 

Sadly, MLB has reversed the progress that it has made since 1947 when Jackie 

Robinson broke the color barrier and MLB has now decreed that it will revert to its 

shameful history and judge people not by the content of their character but by the 

color of their skin.  

 

Thank you in advance for your consideration. Please feel free to contact me if you 

have any questions.  

 

Sincerely,  

 

/s/ Ian D. Prior 

Senior Advisor 

America First Legal Foundation 

 

 

Cc: The Honorable Charlotte A. Burrows, Commission Chair 

 The Honorable Jocelyn Samuels, Commission Vice Chair 

The Honorable Keith E. Sonderling, Commissioner 

The Honorable Andrea R. Lucas, Commissioner 

The Honorable Kalpana Kotagal, Commissioner 

 

 

        

  

 
19 Brown v. Bd. of Educ., 347 U.S. 483, 494 (1954). 
20 Texas v. Johnson, 491 U.S. 397, 418 (1989). 
21 League of United Latin Am. Citizens v. Perry, 548 U.S. 399, 511 (2006) (Roberts, C.J., concurring in 

part). 
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